






 

June 22, 2011 
 
 
San Francisco Ethics Commission 
25 Van Ness Avenue 
San Francisco, CA 94102 
 
Dear Commissioners: 
 
I am writing in regard to Douglas Shoemaker’s request for a waiver of the 
post-employment restrictions on working for a city contractor.   
 
As the Executive Director of the Non-Profit Housing Association of Northern 
California (NPH) for the past 20 years, I believe that I am in a unique 
position to comment on the question of employment opportunities in the field 
of affordable housing development.    
 
The mission of the Non-Profit Housing Association of Northern California 
(NPH) is to advance affordable housing as the foundation for thriving 
individuals, families and neighborhoods.  We represent housing developers, 
local governments, and related private sector companies throughout the Bay 
Area. 
 
In my position as the Executive Director of NPH (and in our organizational 
role and as a capacity builder of the field) we are an immediate and constant 
point of entry for all job seekers in this field.  I can affirm that position(s) 
such as the one of President of Mercy Housing California come available 
infrequently and the competition for these positions is fierce.  There is a 
trend in our field for senior managers and executive level positions to be 
held for 20, 30, and even 40 years.  So, this opportunity does not open up 
often and truly this opportunity is rare. 
 
I think it is also helpful to note that the current chaos created by the 
California Legislature and Governor to agree on the value of Redevelopment 
Agencies in our state has created real uncertainly about affordable housing 
development and funding to actually build affordable housing anywhere.  
This has resulted in layoffs for all sectors in the housing field – private, non-
profit and public.  That translates into fewer jobs and less career 
opportunities.   
 
I firmly believe that the vast majority of Mr. Shoemaker’s potential job 
options have the same types of conflicts as the Mercy Housing California 
position.  Because affordable housing development requires significant 
public subsidies, both for-profit and non-profit developers are compelled to  
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request funds from local governments to purchase land and pay for 
construction costs that the low rents do not support.   
 
I have reviewed our records and determined that there are approximately 15 
affordable housing developers conducting business in San Francisco.  I am 
confident that ALL of them routinely receive either grants or loans from the 
Mayor’s Office of Housing.     
 
As I am sure you may know, many people leaving government do not 
choose to go back to affordable housing or the non-profit sector because the 
salaries are significantly lower than the employment opportunities in market-
rate housing and community development lending companies for example.   
 
In closing, I also wanted the commissioners to know how important it is to 
our field that we allow people like Mr. Shoemaker to return to the non-profit 
sector after a stint in government.  It is essential that we recognize younger 
leaders such as Mr. Shoemaker and allow them to assume leadership 
positions where they can grow, thrive and sustain these valuable affordable 
housing organizations into the future.   
 
Thank you for your consideration and I ask that you grant Mr. Shoemaker 
his waiver. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Dianne J. Spaulding 
Executive Director 
Non-Profit Housing Association of Northern California (NPH) 
 





ETHICS COMMISSION 
CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO  

 
 
 
 
 

25 Van Ness Avenue, Suite 220 • San Francisco, CA  94102-6053• Phone (415) 252-3100• Fax (415) 252-3112 
E-Mail Address:  ethics.commission@sfgov.org Web site:  http://www.sfethics.org 

 

BENEDICT Y. HUR 
CHAIRPERSON 

 
JAMIENNE S. STUDLEY 

VICE-CHAIRPERSON 
 

BEVERLY HAYON 
COMMISSIONER 

 
DOROTHY S. LIU 
COMMISSIONER 

 
 CHARLES L.WARD  

COMMISSIONER 
 

JOHN  ST. CROIX 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

 
 

 

Date:  June 7, 2011 
 
To:  Members, Ethics Commission 
 
From:  John St. Croix, Executive Director 
  By:  Mabel Ng, Deputy Executive Director 
 
Re:  Request for Waiver from Post-Employment Ban 
 
 
Doug Shoemaker, the Director of the Mayor’s Office of Housing (MOH), has 
submitted a request for waiver from San Francisco Campaign and Governmental 
Conduct Code (C&GC Code) section 3.234(a)(3), in order that he may take a job as 
President of Mercy Housing California, a non-profit housing organization located in 
San Francisco.  For the reasons discussed below and set forth in Mr. Shoemaker’s 
letter, as well as the letters of the Mayor and the Deputy Director of MOH supporting 
the waiver request, staff recommends that the Commission grant the waiver.  Mr. 
Shoemaker will attend the Commission’s June 13, 2011 meeting to address any 
questions from the Commission. 
 

Background 
 

According to its website, the mission of the MOH is to provide financing for the 
development, rehabilitation and purchase of affordable housing in San Francisco.  As 
the City’s housing finance agency, MOH guides and coordinates the City's housing 
policy.  It administers a variety of programs – through loans and grants – to finance the 
development of affordable housing by non-profit and for profit developers, provides 
financial and educational assistance to first-time homebuyers, and finances housing 
rehabilitation costs for low-income homeowners.  MOH is also responsible for 
monitoring and ensuring the long-term affordability and physical viability of the City's 
stock of affordable housing.   
 
In addition, MOH’s Community Development Division administers the federally-
funded Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program, which provides 
decent housing, suitable living environments, and economic development opportunities 
principally for persons of low- and moderate-income.  MOH also administers programs 
to prevent homelessness and to enable homeless individuals and families to move 
toward independent living. 
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Relevant Law 
 
C&GC Code section 3.234(a)(3) provides the following: 
 
No current or former employee of the City shall be employed by or otherwise receive 
compensation from a person or entity that entered into a contract with the City within the 
preceding 12 months where the officer or employee personally and substantially participated in 
the award of the contract. 
 
Section 3.234(a)(3) ensures that City contracts are awarded on a fair and impartial basis by 
prohibiting any officer or employee who personally and substantially participates in the award of 
a contract from obtaining employment with the contracting party for one year.  (Sections 
3.234(a)(1) and (2) separately prohibit former City employees and officers from lobbying their 
former colleagues for one year or switching sides and taking positions against the City in 
particular matters.  Mr. Shoemaker is not seeking a waiver from these two restrictions.) 
 
The Commission may grant a waiver from the ban on employment with City contractors if it 
“determines that imposing the restriction would cause extreme hardship” for the individual.  See 
C&GC Code § 3.234(c)(3).  In making this determination, the Commission may consider:  the 
vocation of the individual; the range of employers for whom the individual could work; the steps 
the individual has taken to find new employment; and any other factors the Commission deems 
relevant.  See EC Regulation 3.234-4(a)(5). 
 

Discussion 
 
Mr. Shoemaker states that as part of his job as department head of MOH, he approves 150-175 
grants and loans each year.  He signs contracts, loan documents and grant agreements for some 
80-90 organizations annually.  In the past year, he has approved five contracts with Mercy 
Housing.  Because he “participated personally and substantially in the award of the contracts” by 
virtue of signing the agreements, he may not accept employment with the Mercy Housing unless 
the Commission waives the ban in section 3.234(c)(3).  See Ethics Commission Regulation 
3.234-5(e) (the “single act of approving [a contract] may be substantial”).  The Commission may 
grant his waiver request if the Commission determines that imposing the ban would cause 
extreme hardship for him.   
 
Staff believes that imposing the ban would cause extreme hardship for Mr. Shoemaker.  As he 
explains in his letter, Mr. Shoemaker has worked in the field of non-profit affordable housing 
throughout his professional career.  Because most, if not all, local non-profit organizations in his 
field have contractual relationships with MOH, for him to seek employment with any of them 
would pose the same conflict and would require the same waiver request.   
 
Mr. Shoemaker adds that the non-profit affordable housing field is small, so there are relatively 
few opportunities for employment, particularly in the City where he and his family reside, work 
and attend school.  Staff believes that Mr. Shoemaker may suffer financial as well as 
professional hardship because he will be unable to pursue his chosen career path if he cannot 
take the position offered to him by Mercy Housing.  As stated in the letter from the Mayor, Mr. 
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Shoemaker “is faced with the unenviable choice of leaving the field of affordable housing or 
leaving our City in order to accept work outside of government.” 
 
Mr. Shoemaker states that he has not taken any action to influence Mercy Housing to offer him a 
position.  Nor has he signed any contracts or made any decisions regarding its funding since he 
began talks about possible employment with the organization.  Instead, as indicated in the two 
letters supporting his waiver request, all decisions related to Mercy Housing have been delegated 
to the Deputy Director of MOH during that period. 
 
The post-employment restriction in section 3.234(a)(3) was designed to prevent corruption, 
favoritism or inappropriate influence in the City’s contracting process.  There is no apparent risk 
of any of those harms here.  Moreover, the prohibition would cause undue hardship to Mr. 
Shoemaker for the reasons discussed above and in his letter.  For these reasons, staff 
recommends that the Commission grant the waiver. 
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